FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/8/2022 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/10/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100624-1

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent

v.

KYRAN JOHN LIEN,
Petitioner

State v. Lien, Division Two No. 54146-7-II

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN HENRY BROWNE, WSBA #4677
CRAIG SUFFIAN, WSBA #52697
Attorneys for Petitioner Kyran Lien

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN HENRY BROWNE, P.S.
1400 Smith Tower
506 Second Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104-3414
(206) 388-0777

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Kyran Lien, through his attorneys, respectfully asks this Court to review the following decision.

II. DECISION BELOW

Mr. Lien seeks review of Division Two's Unpublished Opinion in *State v. Lien*, No. 54146-7-II (November 23, 2021) (*Lien*). See Appendix.¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Division Two's Opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in *State v. Valentine*, 132 Wn.2d 1, 935 P.2d 1294 (1997) and *State v. Lively*, 130 Wn.2d 1, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996), which hold that where a trial court abuses its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard in reaching a determination, the remedy is remand for reconsideration, not post hoc judicial fact-finding?
2. Whether Division Two's Opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in *Valentine, supra*, and *Lively, supra*, and the published opinions in *State v. Glant*, 113 Wn.App.2d 356, 465 P.3d 382 (2020) and *State v. Solomon*, 3 Wn.App.2d 895, 419 P.3d 436 (2018), which hold that where a trial court fails to enter the *required* written findings of fact and conclusions of law on a

¹ A copy of: (A) the decision below and (B) the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration are provided in the Appendix.

defendant's motion to dismiss due to a violation of due process, the remedy is remand for reconsideration?

3. Whether Division Two's Opinion conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Lively, supra*, and the published opinions in *Glant, supra*, and *Solomon, supra*, which mandate dismissal for outrageous government conduct violative of due process, which also presents a significant question of state and federal constitutional law?
4. Whether Division Two's Opinion conflicts with this Court's numerous opinions about a defendant's state and federal constitutional right to present a complete defense, *see, e.g., State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (*citing, e.g., U.S. Const. amend 6; Const. art. I, § 22*); *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967); and the published opinions in *State v. Larry*, 108 Wn.App. 894, 34 P.3d 241 (2001) and *State v. Huff*, 3 Wn.App. 632, 477 P.2d 22 (1970), which, together, mandate that Mr. Lien's entire interrogation should have been presented to the jury under the rule of completeness and as part of his right to present a complete defense under the state and federal constitutions?
5. Whether Division Two's opinion conflicts with this Court's opinion in *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 140 P.3d 646 (2006) and the published opinion in *State v. Ra*, 144 Wn.App. 688, 175 P.3d 609 (2008), which provide that the prevailing party on a motion in limine need not object to preserve the error where the violation was deliberate or overly prejudicial, and also conflicts with the

published opinions *upon which Division Two relied* in *State v. Curtiss*, 161 Wn.App. 673, 250 P.3d 496 (2011) and *State v. Henson*, 11 Wn.App.2d 97, 451 P.3d 1127 (2019)?

6. Whether Division Two's opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in *State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 340 P.3d 213 (2014) and *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) and the published opinion in *State v. Farr-Lenzini*, 93 Wn.App. 453, 970 P.2d 313 (1999) that even if Mr. Lien failed to preserve the violations of the pretrial order, this was manifest error affecting a constitutional right that can be raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3), which is thus also a significant question of state constitutional law?
7. Whether Division Two's opinion conflicts with the published opinion in *State v. Richardson*, 12 Wn.App.2d 657, 459 P.3d 330 (2020), upon which Division Two incorrectly cited for the proposition that an objection is required to preserve the issue where the court *rejects* an instruction that a party proposed, but which is completely inapposite because *Richardson* involved an instruction that was *given* without any objection from the defense, as well as the published opinions in *State v. Gladden*, 116 Wn.App. 561, 66 P.3d 1095 (2003) and *State v. Frazier*, 55 Wn.App. 204, 777 P.2d 27 (1989)?
8. Whether Division Two's opinion conflicts with this Court's opinion in *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) and the published opinions in *State v. Arbogast*, 15 Wn.App.2d 851, 478 P.3d 115 (2020), *review granted*, 197 Wn.2d 1007 (2021) and *Richardson*,

supra, which mandate that even if Mr. Lien failed preserve the issue of the trial court’s failure to instruct the jury as to entrapment as a defense to Count III, this was manifest error affecting a constitutional right that can raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3), which is thus also a significant question of state constitutional law as well as an issue of substantial public interest to be determined by this Court?

9. Whether Division Two’s opinion conflicts with the published opinion in *State v. Johnson*, 12 Wn.App.2d 201, 211-12, 460 P.3d 1091 (2020), *aff’d*, 197 Wn.2d 740, 487 P.3d 893 (June 10, 2021), which requires that a defendant must have, as an element of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, “the intent to communicate with a minor with a predatory purpose of sexualizing the minor” and which could not possibly apply here given the undisputed evidence, which is also a significant question of state and federal constitutional law as well as an issue of substantial public importance calling for review?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While Division Two’s factual recitation is, primarily, accurate, there are many glaring omissions.

A. BACKGROUND AND ARREST

When *former* Washington State Patrol (“WSP”) Sergeant Carlos Rodriguez posted his ad on Craigslist, he had to certify that the user was at least 18 years old. 2 RP at 387.

After Mr. Lien responded, WSP Detective John Garden replied and sent photos of two *adult females in their mid-twenties*. RP 3 at 514.

For brevity, it suffices to say that Division Two's recitation (1) ignores most of Garden's insistent, innuendo-laden communications and vulgarity; (2) fails to properly cite to and include the many emojis and the proper spelling and punctuation nuances of the actual communications as originally sent and as recorded in the Clerk's Papers and thus downplays and misrepresents the true context; and (3) misstates that Mr. Lien initiated the graphic communications. *See id.* at 469-71, 475-81; CP 50-53; *Lien*, at 1-6.

In closing and rebuttal, the State conceded that "the undercover did first initiate the conversation about sex ..." RP (Oct. 10, 2019) at 13, 53.

The trial court also found:

The first discussion regarding sexual intercourse was brought forth in the text messages from the undercover officer. First talk about money was

through the undercover officer. The undercover officer did ask to meet several times, and there is one occasion where the undercover officer contacts the defendant, like in the morning – I think this was on the 14th – after not hearing from him.

6 RP at 1014.

Division Two further omitted that: (1) Garden requested that Mr. Lien take “selfies” from a specified location, which he never did, *see* CP at 52-53; 3 RP at 495, 536-37; 4 RP at 689; 6 RP at 954; (2) Garden asked Mr. Lien to get condoms, which he lied about getting and which he did not possess when arrested, *see* CP 52-53; 3 RP at 568; 4 RP at 678, 684; 6 RP at 949, 987, 990-93; and (3) Garden called Mr. Lien “an ass” when he terminated communications. CP 53-54.

B. PRETRIAL MOTIONS

A trial court judge summarized Garden’s behavior:

I’m boggled by the fact that it was the officer that kept bringing him into the conversation ... And it really wasn’t until the fourth date between him and child of what they were going to do ... the officer is the one who kept dragging him into it.”

Id. at 62-63.²

C. TRIAL

1. Heavily Redacted Audio Recording

The trial court found that the video was the best evidence and the transcript contained several errors. 3 RP at 572-80. The court was also concerned that excessive amount “of black marks here for the redactions” were prejudicial. 5 RP at 741-42; *see Lien*, at 7.

2. The State’s Violations of the Motions in Limine through Detective Garden’s Violation of Mr. Lien’s Constitutional Rights

The trial court granted Mr. Lien’s motion to prohibit the state from mentioning the Missing and Exploited Children’s Task Force (MECTF) as irrelevant and possibly prejudicial and instructed the State to advise its witnesses of its ruling. 2 RP at 202-204, 216-17.

² Mr. Lien elicited that Garden attempted to get Mr. Lien to come to the bait house approximately ten times before he falsely indicated that he would do so. *See* 3 RP at 535.

The court also granted Mr. Lien’s motion to prohibit improper lay opinion testimony—particularly expression of personal belief as to a defendant’s intent or guilt, especially by a member of law enforcement—and ordered the State to advise its witnesses accordingly. 1 RP at 33-35, 40.

Contrary to Division Two’s assessment, Mr. Lien conceded only that Garden’s comment about MECTF, “*standing alone*, is likely harmless error” and that the violation of his rights must be considered *in conjunction with* Garden’s additional and more egregious violation of the trial court’s order and his constitutional right to a jury trial. Appellant’s Opening Brief at 41; Appellant’s Reply Brief at 17-18; *Lien*, at 7-8, 21 n.2.

3. The Trial Court’s Refusal to Instruct the Jury on Entrapment as a Defense to Count III

After the court agreed to instruct the jury as requested on Counts I and II but not as to Count III, the following exchange ensued between the court and lead defense counsel, who *did not* argue the instruction issue:

Counsel: Your honor, I'm sorry. I was – what is your last –
Court: Entrapment applies to Count I and II only.
Counsel: That is correct. We agree with that.
Court: Okay.
Counsel: *I think that is our proposed instructions.*

6 RP at 1014-15 (emphasis added).

Counsel was mistaken, did not further object, and did not need to further object. *See Lien*, at 8.

V. ARGUMENT

A. REVIEW AND RELIEF ARE REQUIRED BECAUSE DIVISION TWO APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN SANCTIONING THE TRIAL COURT'S APPLICATION OF AN ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL LEGAL STANDARD IN DENYING MR. LIEN'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENT CONDUCT WITHOUT THE REQUIRED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Proper Remedy for the Trial Court's Application of an Erroneous Legal Standard is Remand for Reconsideration

Division Two correctly found that the trial court abused its discretion by applying an incorrect legal standard—one that was prejudicial to Mr. Lien, no less—in viewing the evidence in the

light most favorable to the State in denying his motion to dismiss for outrageous government conduct violative of due process. *Lien*, at 11 (*citing Valentine, supra*, at 23).

Rather than remand, Division Two engaged in improper and prohibited judicial fact-finding. *See Valentine, supra; Lively, supra; Lien*, at 8-16 (*citing, e.g., Glant, supra; Solomon, supra*).

Mr. Lien thus requests that this Court grant review and remand to the trial court to engage in a proper inquiry under the correct standard of review.

2. **The Proper Remedy for the Trial Court's Failure to Enter Written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law is Remand for Entry of Findings**

The trial court's failure to support its denial of Mr. Lien's Motion to Dismiss with written findings and conclusions, standing alone—and especially in conjunction with its application of an erroneous and prejudicial legal standard mandates remand for reconsideration *under the correct standard of review* **and** entry of findings.

Division Two relied upon *Valentine, supra*, for the proposition that a trial cannot weight the facts in favor of the State, *see Lien*, at 12, but ignored the dictate that on appeal:

whether a prosecution should be dismissed for outrageous conduct ... should be viewed as a question of law that is to be based on the facts of the case. Those facts, however, are not to be resolved at the appellate court Resolution of factual disputes is a task for the trier of fact, not this court.

132 Wn.2d at 23-24 (citations omitted); *see also Solomon, supra* (citing *Valentine, supra; Lively, supra*).

In *Lively*, the defendant specifically requested that the Supreme Court adopt the trial court's findings of facts and conclusions of law. 130 Wn.2d at 15. The Court was explicit that in other circumstances, the trial court, and only the trial court, *must* enter findings: "*A violation of due process must be determined as a matter of law and it is the trial court which makes the findings of fact related to that decision.*" *Id.* at 24-25 (emphasis added) (citing *United States v. Bogart*, 783 F.2d 1428 (9th Cir. 1986)).

In the post-*Lively*, published Net Nanny cases, *Solomon, supra*, and *Glant, supra*, the courts properly enunciated their reasoning on the record, using appropriate standard of review. *See Lien*, at 10.

Lively, its predecessors, and its progeny thus dictate that the remedy for the trial court's failure to enter written finding of fact and conclusions of law is remand—not substitution of Division Two's judgment as based upon the trial court's faulty and prejudicial analysis in favor of the State.

B. REVIEW AND DIMISSAL ARE REQUIRED DUE TO OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENT CONDUCT IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS

As noted above, Mr. Lien should not have to object to Division Two's post hoc analysis—especially when premised upon the trial court's flawed and prejudicial analysis.

In any event, Division Two's erroneous application of the *Lively* factors warrants review and dismissal.

1. Instigation of the Crime

Division Two incorrectly relied upon, *Glant, supra*, to find this factor neutral. *See Lien*, at 13. In *Glant*, though, the record lacked sufficient evidence to support such a finding. 13 Wn.App.2d at 372-73. The Court also ignored *Solomon*

Here, the analysis is directly in sync with *Solomon*. The trial court—like this trial court—concluded: “There is no question” that law enforcement “instigated the thing, got it started, got the ball rolling by placing an ad on Craigslist.” 3 Wn.App.2d at 910-11; *see also* RP (Feb. 19, 2019) at 62-63.

2. Overcoming by Persistent Solicitation

Division Two incorrectly concluded that this factor does not support dismissal, *see Lien*, at 13-14, despite that: Garden initiated and certified that the user was at least 18 years old; sent photos of adults in their twenties; strung Mr. Lien along for four days; repeatedly—and unsuccessfully, asked Mr. Lien to “cum” over; complained about being broke and needed money; used

sexually suggestive emojis; and also initiated the more explicit sexual communications.

While the Court is correct that Mr. Lien continued to communicate after the fictitious minor relayed that she was only 13, *id.* at 13, it took repeated solicitation and pleas of sympathy over a series of days and Garden started the sex talk to the extent that it “boggled” a superior court judge.

Here, again, *Solomon* is directly on point and compels a finding that this factor weighs in favor of dismissal or is neutral, at the very least.

3. Control of Criminal Activity

As the trial court entered no findings, this Court should adopt the aforementioned assessments by the trial court that it was boggling that the officer persistently brought and dragged Mr. Lien into the communications and that the officer first broached the topic of money and anything sexual.

Analogous to *Solomon*: “The government controlled this. They started it, they initiated it.” *Solomon, supra*, at 914. Here,

as in *Solomon*, the State controlled the activity “both by initiating the interaction” and by “stringing [Mr. Lien] along” for several days. *Id.*

Division Two’s determination thus conflicts with *Solomon* in finding that this factor somehow *does not* weigh *heavily* in favor of dismissal. *See, Lien*, at 14.

4. WSP’s Motive was to Create Crimes

As the State conduct here “demonstrates a greater interest in creating crimes to prosecute than in protecting the public from further criminal behavior,” this factor also points towards dismissal. *See Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 26.

5. Repugnant to Sense of Justice

Division Two’s seeming misconception that Garden *did not* initiate the sexual communications and its concomitant failure to incorporate the emojis and other nuances of the communication into its analysis pervades and infects its wrongly decided opinion. *See, e.g., Lien*, at 15-16.

Under these circumstances, the conduct was repugnant to justice and in violation of Mr. Lien's due process rights.

Review and reversal are thus required.

C. REVIEW AND REVERSAL ARE REQUIRED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. LIEN'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ADMIT THE ENTIRE VIDEO OF HIS INTERROGATION

As Division Two sanctioned the trial court's violation of Mr. Lien's right to present a complete defense, review and reversal are required.

Division Two errantly cites to *Larry, supra*, and *United States v. Haddad*, 10 F.3d 1252 (9th Cir. 1993), *see Lien*, at 17-19, but glosses over the most relevant holding: “[S]elf-serving, exculpatory, out of court statements” that are “part and parcel of the very statement a portion of which the Government was properly bringing before the jury” are admissible under ER 106 and the rule of completeness. *Larry*, 108 Wn.App. at 909 (*quoting Haddad, supra*, at 1258-59)

This is precisely the same information that the court excluded here.

In *Huff*, moreover—upon which the trial court relied, which Mr. Lien briefed, and which Division Two ignored—the Court found the rule of completeness inapt, but was explicit that where, as here, “officers were ‘platooning’ the interrogation of a defendant for the purpose of using only derogatory statements, while excluding exculpatory ones,” the analysis warrants “close scrutiny.” 3 Wn.App. at 637.

Division Two also disregards the axiom that “there is no ‘self-serving hearsay’ bar that excludes an otherwise admissible statement.” *State v. Pavlik*, 165 Wn.App. 645, 653, 268 P.3d 986 (2012).

Even notwithstanding, then, Mr. Lien’s constitutional right to present a complete defense, the complete, unredacted video was admissible pursuant to the rule of completeness.

Division Two, finally, by very definition and contrary to longstanding precedent, sanctioned the trial court’s violation of

Mr. Lien’s constitutional right to present a complete defense and “applied mechanistically” evidentiary rules over fundamental rights. *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973); *see also Jones, supra; Darden, supra; Hudlow, supra.*

Division Two relied upon *State v. Lizzaraga*, 191 Wn.App. 530, 364 P.3d 810 (2015), to deny relief. *See Lien*, at 21. *Lizzaraga*, though, involved only garden variety hearsay and did not implicate any other grounds for admission.

As this error was overly prejudicial and infected the entirety of trial, review and reversal are required.

D. REVIEW AND REVERSAL OF COUNT III ARE REQUIRED BECAUSE DIVISION TWO APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IN DENYING REVIEW OF MR. LIEN’S CLAIM THAT THE STATE VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS IN VIOLATION OF THE TRIAL COURT’S ORDERS, WHICH IS A PRESERVED ERROR

1. The Error is Preserved

Division Two applied the wrong standard in relying upon:

(1) *Curtiss*, 161 Wn.App. at 696 (which *did not* involve violation

of a pretrial order or even a specifically granted motion in limine and featured a *totally unpreserved* error) and (2) *Henson*, 11 Wn.App.2d at 102 (in which the trial reserved on the defendant's motion in limine, which the State violated at trial with no objection), to deny review. *See Lien*, at 21-22.

“The purpose of a motion in limine is to dispose of legal matters so counsel will not be forced to make comments in the presence of the jury which might prejudice his presentation.” *State v. Kelly*, 102 Wn.2d 188, 193, 685 P.2d 564 (1984) (citation omitted). “Washington courts in numerous cases have stated that rulings on motions in limine are more than tentative; and once the court has granted such a motion, no objection is necessary to preserve the right to claim error if the evidence is nevertheless admitted.” *State v. Latham*, 30 Wn.App. 776, 780, 638 P.2d 592 (1981), *aff'd*, 100 Wn.2d 59, 667 P.2d 56 (1983) (add'l citations omitted).

More recently, this Court held that the party prevailing on a pretrial motion to exclude evidence *should* object “unless an

unusual circumstance exists “that makes it impossible to avoid the prejudicial impact of evidence that had previously been ruled inadmissible,” including but not limited to, where the violation was deliberate or overly prejudicial. *Weber*, 159 Wn.2d at 272; (citations omitted); *Ra*, 144 Wn.App. at 691.

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