FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/8/2022 11:07 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON

NO. 100624-1

CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KYRAN JOHN LIEN,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 54146-7-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 17-1-01555-3

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

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

V. ARGUMENT

1. None of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) support acceptance of review.

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals; RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) do not support review. The petition fails to raise a "significant question" of constitutional law and presents no issue of "substantial public interest;" RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) do not support review.

2. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review in affirming the trial court's denial of Lien's motion to dismiss for outrageous governmental conduct.

The Court of Appeals implied that the trial court erred in applying a light most favorable to the state evidentiary standard in deciding Lien's motion, finding "no authority" for that approach. *Slip. op.* at 9. But Lien assails the standard of review in the Court of Appeals, not the trial court's evidentiary standard mistake. Lien then wants the matter remanded for findings "under the correct standard of review." Petition at 10. Moreover, Lien, without authority, argues that the trial court was required to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law in deciding the issue.

The standard of review on a claim of outrageous governmental conduct is abuse of discretion. *Slip. op.* at 9. The court below cited *State v. Lively,* 130 Wn.2d 1, 21-22, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996), establishing that review of the outrageous conduct issue is "based on the totality of the circumstances, addressing the unique set of facts in each case." *Slip. op.* at 9 (*citing Lively,* 130 Wn2d at 21). Lien does not explain why these standards of review are in error or how they conflict with Supreme Court authority.

As for the trial court, the court below noted that the facts Lien relied on for the motion—the WSP ad and subsequent recorded communications--were not in dispute and thus the light-most-favorable-to-the-state remark did not warrant reversal. Id. at 12. The Court concluded that it was unclear what evidentiary standard the trial court applied. Id. Lien provides no argument explaining what he believes the correct evidentiary standard in the trial court is or should be.

The Court was critical of the trial court for not expressly addressing the *Lively* factors and by that omission "making our review more difficult." *Slip. op.* at 12-13. But there is no rule or holding making written findings mandatory for such motions. In fact, the *Lively* Court said in consideration of all the circumstances that

it is important to observe that we do not rest our conclusion

regarding outrageous conduct on the trial court's findings, but simply find them relevant to one of the factors considered in determining whether police conduct offends due process.

Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 25.

The Court of Appeals observed regarding *State v. Valentine*, 132 Wn.2d 1, 935 P.3d 1294 (1997), that appellate courts in fact strongly advised that findings "should" be entered, but no holding says they must be. Id. There was, for example, no error in *State v. Solomon*, 3 Wn.App.2d 895, 419 P.3d 438 (2018), where the Court relied on the trial court's oral findings. *Slip. op.* at 12. In *Lively*, the outrageous conduct issue was raised for the first time on appeal. Id. at 13 (*citing Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 18-19). There simply were no written findings and conclusions for the *Lively* Court to consider. The Court of Appeals treatment of this issue does not conflict with any other authority.

3. The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's due process test in consideration of the trial court record on review of the denial of Lien's outrageous conduct motion.

Lien contends that the court below engaged an incorrect "post hoc" approach to the *Lively* factors. It is true that the reviewing court's analysis of the factors occurred after the trial court's ruling on the matter.¹ The Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the totality of the circumstances as found in the trial court record and held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the extraordinary remedy of dismissal.

1. Instigation

The Court did not "rely on *Glant*." Motion at 15. The Court found the *Glant* trial court's treatment of the question to be "similar." Police posted the ad. Because Lien voluntarily replied to the ad, the Court properly found that the ad did not target Lien. These competing facts, without the additional police aggression found in *State v. Solomon*, 3 Wn. App.2d 895, 419 P.3d 436 (2018), result in correct finding that the factor is neutral.

2. Police Persistence

Lien simply disagrees with the Court's analysis of the facts. Lien ignores that he expressed the girth of his penis early in the communication. As in *Glant*, Lien's response to the ad and a lack of hesitation in discussing sexual matters causes this factor to militate in favor of the state. The Court's analysis of the facts relevant to this factor is completely reasonable and rebuts the present argument. This factor was correctly considered to weigh against dismissal.

3. Control of Criminal Activity

Here, as he does in the entrapment issue, Lien argues that the Court is in error because it did not follow the pronouncements of a superior court

¹ Post hoc means "after this." Black's Law Dictionary, 5th Ed., West Pub., 1979.

judge, who was not the trial judge, and who was not ruling on a motion to dismiss the prosecution for outrageous governmental conduct. And, who, of course, did not back his statement with written findings of fact as Lien asserts is required if such remarks are to be considered.

Lien simply does not rebut the finding that he was an equal participant in the exchanges. It is a neutral factor.

4. WSP Motives and Repugnance to Sense of Justice.

Lien concedes the strong policy interest that weighs against dismissal on law enforcement motives. Lien fails to rebut the vitality of that same policy in consideration the repugnance factor. Here, again, Lien merely advances a different take on the facts. He does not rebut the strong policy that allows undercover police to talk about sex in order to capture sex offenders.

The Court properly followed *Glant* on the public policy issue and on the issue of private funding. The Court's reading of the record is correct and reasonable on this issue. This factor does not support dismissal and need not be reviewed.

Finally, Lien does not address the Court's correct holding that "based on an analysis of *Lively* factors and the totality of the

13

² State v. Glant, 13 Wn. App.2d 356, 465 P.3d 382 (2020).

circumstances, this case does not involve egregious circumstances." *Slip. Op.* at 16 (emphasis added). The Court is correct on the law and the facts.

Review should be denied.

4. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Lien's argument is inadequate to support a finding that the trial court abused its discretion, was inadequate to establish that all statements were admissible under ER 106, and was inadequate to support admission the resulting inadmissible hearsay.

Here, Lien claims impairment of the right to present a defense.

Alternatively, Lien argues that the statements he sought to admit below are admissible under ER 106.

The Court of Appeals applied the proper standard of review to the trial court's evidentiary rulings under ER 106, abuse of discretion. *Slip. op.* at 19. Lien never contests that

both parties and the trial court went through an exhaustive line-byline examination of the transcript of Lien's interrogation, discussing which portions that Lien sought to admit should be included in the transcript provided to the jury and which should not.

Id. at 20. Lien has no answer for the finding of the Court of Appeals that "This undertaking involved the court's exercise of its discretion, and Lien has not explained with specificity how the trial court abused that discretion." Id. Further, the paucity of argument extends to Lien's

assertion of blanket admissibility under ER 106: "Lien does not explain how *every* statement he made in the interrogation meets the rather stringent requirements of ER 106." Id. (emphasis by the court).

Lien's right to present a defense argument fails along with his ER 106 argument. That is, the court below correctly found that "if Lien's exculpatory statements in the interrogation were not admissible under ER 106, they were inadmissible hearsay." *Slip. op.* at 20 (*citing State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 824, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)).

The court below broke no new ground in noting that the right to present a defense is "subject to 'established rules of procedure and evidence." *Slip. op.* at 19 (*quoting State v. Lizarraga*, 191 Wn. App. 530, 553, 364 P.3d 810 (2015) (which case quoted *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973))). The Court followed this Court's prescription of a two-step process—first applying abuse of discretion to the evidentiary ruling and then considering those rulings de novo in light of the right. Id. at 19-20. The Court of Appeals properly balanced the parties' interests and found that Lien's interest in admitting the evidence "did not outweigh the State's interest in excluding inadmissible evidence." Id.

The court below followed this Court's authority on the issue.

There is no conflict in the standards used or how they were applied. This

issue should not be reviewed.

5. Lien sought the police officer's opinion on cross examination and did not object when he got it.

During cross examination, Lien spent considerable effort attempting to have the detective say that he, the detective, had been first to mention sex in his communication with Lien. See e.g. 3RP 521-23. Lien's counsel asked "And this is kind of where the communications get a bit x-rated; is that true?" The detective responded "I feel like they're x-rated all the way through, but this is x-rated at this part. I think it's all about sex with a 13 year old prior to this. So to me it's all -- it's not just at this point." 3RP 523. Lien did not object.

The failure to object left the issue unpreserved. Appellate courts do not consider evidentiary issues raised for the first time on appeal "because failure to object deprives the trial court of the opportunity to prevent or cure any error." *State v. Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. 673, 696, 250 P.3d 496 (2011) *review denied* 172 Wn.2d 1012 (2011). Moreover, "The admission of a witness's opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without objection, is not automatically reviewable as a manifest constitutional error." *Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. 696-97 *citing State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 936, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). To raise an unpreserved improper opinion claim, an appellant "is required to show that the error is manifest and actually prejudiced the jury." *Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. at 697. Lien did not

preserve error on receipt of the opinion he so strenuously sought. This issue should not be reviewed.

Moreover, even if Lien's in limine motions might be stretched far enough to cover this testimony, the Court of Appeals followed well-established authority that he must still object. In *State v. Sullivan*, 69 Wn. App. 167, 847 P.2d 953 (1993) *review denied* 122 Wn.2d 1002 (1993), the rule was stated

A review of the authorities discloses that the allowance of a standing objection to the introduction of evidence, thus preserving the issue for appeal, has been allowed only to the party losing the motion to exclude the evidence.

Id. at 171 (collecting cases). Since Lien was the prevailing party on the motion in limine, he had a duty to object to the violation of the order. This because "The trial court has no duty to remedy a violation *sua sponte*." *Sullivan*, 69 Wn. App. at 172. This rule applies unless avoiding prejudicial impact is impossible:

even when the trial court has already excluded evidence through a pretrial order, the complaining party should object to the admission of the allegedly inadmissible evidence in order to preserve the issue for review, unless an unusual circumstance exists that makes it impossible to avoid the prejudicial impact of evidence that had previously been ruled inadmissible.

State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 272, 140 P.3d 646 (2006) citing Sullivan, supra. The rule has particular clarity where a party seeks the evidence on cross examination that she previously sought to exclude.

The Court of Appeals properly applied existing precedent to this issue. There is no conflict with this Court's cases and review should be denied.

6. Lien did not preserve the issue of the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on entrapment as to count II.

Lien claims that he preserved the entrapment instruction issue because the trial court rejected his proposed instruction. Pet. at 25. Lien further claims that he need not have preserved the issue by objection because it is a manifest constitutional issue under Rap 2.5(a)(3). Id. And, finally, Lien argues that review is required because he is right on the merits. Pet. at 27-28.

The conclusion of the Court of Appeals is driven by the facts admitted by Lien. *Slip op.* at 22. Jury instructions were considered and the trial court ruled "Entrapment applies to Count I and II only." 6RP 1014-15. Counsel responded "That is correct. We agree with that." Id. Further, counsel conceded that "that is our proposed instructions." Id.

The Court of Appeals observed that

following that comment Lien never objected to the trial court's failure to give an entrapment instruction for the communication with a minor for immoral purposes charge. The trial court had no notice that Lien did not agree with the court's decision not to give the instruction.

Id. The proper standard of review is abuse of discretion when a refusal to instruct is based on lack of factual support. *See State v. Lucky*, 128 Wn.2d 727, 731, 912 P.2d 483 (1996) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 544, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). Here, Lien, at the time, articulated that the trial court's finding of lack of factual support was "correct."

Lien now claims that counsel was mistaken in his agreement with the trial court's ruling.³ The basic principles of issue preservation should prevail: one should not be allowed to so whole-heartedly agree with the trial court on the record and then claim error on appeal. The issue was not preserved.

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals noted, the state argued below that Lien's position here is a paradigm of invited error. *See City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002); *see also State v. Schierman*, 192 Wn.2d 577, 618, 438 P.3d 1063 (2018) ("the invited error doctrine prohibits a party from appealing on the basis of an error that he or she "set up" at trial."). This Court recently said, "even where constitutional rights are involved, we are precluded from reviewing jury instructions when the defendant has proposed an instruction or agreed to

³ Lien emphasizes counsel's remark that the trial court's ruling agrees with the defense proposed instructions. The defense submitted a proposed entrapment instruction as to count III (Sup. CP at 500).

its wording." *State v. Weaver*, 198 Wn.2d 459, 465, 496 P.3d 1183 (2021) (doctrine does not apply where party did not submit the challenged instruction).

Lien did not advance a RAP 2.5(a) argument in the Court of Appeals. This Court cannot review a decision that the Court of Appeals was not asked to make. Further, review under this exception must involve a constitutional error that is "manifest"—"there must be a showing of actual prejudice, which requires a plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *State v. Gouley*, 19 Wn. App.2d 185, 197-98, 494 P.3d 458 (2021) (page break, internal quotation omitted) *citing State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

The O'Hara Court held that the error must be practical and identifiable. 167 Wn.2d at 99. And,

to determine whether an error is practical and identifiable, the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error.

167 Wn.2d at 100. In *O'Hara*, under all the circumstances of that case, the giving of a misworded self-defense instruction was not a practical and identifiable error and thus did not meet the preservation exception of RAP 2.5(a)(3). 167 Wn.2d at 109.

Here, counsel's agreement with the trial court ruling controls. The complete agreement of the defense is "what the trial court knew at the

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